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Landfill Solar Project 

Addendum #1 

 

Pre-Bid Conference 

Questions & Answers 

March 14, 2012;   2 PM 

 

1. What is the acreage of the hazardous waste site? 

The cleared solid waste landfill area is approximately 19 to 21 acres. In addition to this area, there 

are 3 acres located within the fenced area noted as the metal hydroxide disposal area. The solid 

waste area and metal hydroxide site can only be used given Connecticut Department of Energy and 

Environmental Protection (DEEP) approval. The entire site including the tree area is approximately 

99 acres. 

 

2. How will the City proceed if Virtual Net Metering is not approved in 2012? 

The City wishes to select a developer shortly after receipt of proposals and finalize an agreement 

that allows submittal to Connecticut Light and Power Company’s (CL&P’s) ZREC solicitation 

program this year. It appears that proposed virtual net metering bill amendments allowing a lease 

agreement is moving forward in the State Legislature. The City is committed to working with the 

selected developer even if an agreement is not reached before CL&P’s RFP submittal deadline. It is 

anticipated that CL&P’s RFP will be advertized sometime in mid April 2012 possibly open for up 

to eight weeks. PURA will release their final decision on CL&P’s RFP ZREC package on March 

28, 2012. The RFP opening date and time will not be extended. 

 

2. Is one (1) Mega Watt the largest system that will be allowed? 

If a larger system is economically feasible, then the City is agreeable to a larger system. The 

Connecticut Public Utility Regulatory Agency (PURA) will direct CL&P to provide bid proposals 

based on nameplate rating; however, the maximum project capacity solicitation will be limited to 1 

MW for ZRECs and 2 MW for LRECs and projects will only receive RECs for the project’s actual 

energy production.  Project RECs exceeding the program caps can be used at the customer’s 

discretion outside the ZREC and LREC programs. In addition to this information, “Virtual Net 

Metering” will have a nameplate capacity rating of two megawatts or less. 

 

3. What is the power demand for the City of Torrington?  

The attached list shows the history of the City’s five highest electric accounts. 

 

4. Will crossing the railroad and state highway with aerial power lines require an easement? 

The railroad is State owned. Connecticut Department of Transportation (CDOT) rail division approval 

will be required to run aerial lines over the tracks.  I confirmed with the local CDOT District office 

that they will issue a permit to cross over the State’s South Main Street highway right of way. Also, 

the narrow strip of land between the South Main Street highway right of way and the Naugatuck River 

is currently owned by Ted Marola. Approximately 5 years we had talked to Mr. Marola about 
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obtaining an easement to install a sewer line from the highway through this same property and under 

the river to the sewer plant. At that time Mr. Marola was open to granting an easement.   

 

5. What is the point of interconnection with the power grid?  

We do not know the answer to this question. Further review and discussions with CL&P is required. 

 

6. Who owns the power lines entering the landfill property? 

The overhead lines/poles that are on Vista Drive are under CL&P’s ownership. Also, a copy of 

CL&P’s pole data base that we have in our office indicates the poles located within the landfill site, 

located adjacent to the gravel access drive, are CL&P poles and the poles are numbered. 

 

7. Can the lease bid be tied to ZREC and can the suggested ZREC be a fixed amount? 

For Proposal comparison purposes the ZREC credit shall be assumed to be $250. The City wants to 

be able to compare “apples with apples” and limit the variables in the proposals. 

 

8. Can poles be inserted in to the landfill cap? 

No, the cap cannot be penetrated with poles, footings, conduits, fence posts or equipment. Any 

disturbance to the grass surface during construction activities will have to be reestablished to 

prevent erosion of the cap. 

 

9. Can maps be included in the addendum in a PDF format?  

PDF files of available mapping if given in the original RFP package. 

 

10. Is there as venting or collection system in-place for the landfill? 

No. 

 

11. Can a detail of the landfill cap be included with the addendum? 

Attached are two original details of the cap sections. 

 

12. What DEEP permitting will be required as part of this project?  

The City has written a letter to the DEEP Commissioner asking if a DEEP permit is required. We 

have not received a response yet. 

 

13. What are the costs to the developer payable to the City of Torrington?  

The Zoning/Inland Wetlands application fee will be approximately $210. The Building Department 

fee will be approximately $25.26 for the first $1,000 of the project cost plus $12.26 for every 

thousand dollars thereafter. The Building Department has a $150 plan review fee.  

  

14. What are the City of Torrington’s insurance requirements? 

Attached is an Accord certificate sample specifying insurance requirements. 

 

15. Who will be responsible for grounds maintenance? 

The Proposer/developer will be responsible for all maintenance adjacent and between their solar 

panels. If the area is fenced by the developer, then all maintenance within the fenced area will be 

the responsibility of developer. The City will maintain the existing access road and adjacent areas 

outside the panel area. The City will maintain the access drive gate. The City will entertain any 

other security systems the developer may want to propose. The City will be using the access drive 

to dispose of clean fill on a periodic basis in the clean fill area designated on the attached map 

showing this area. 
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16. Is the developer required to fence in the area of the system? 

Fencing is not required; however the developer will be responsible for security. Fence posts cannot 

penetrate the cap. 

 

17. Can the field meeting sign in-sheet be included with the Addendum? 

Attached is the attendee sign-in sheet for the site meeting. 

 

18. Who is responsible if contaminants are encountered? 

Prior to beginning work the developer shall inspect site with City to verify cover conditions and if 

any contaminates are exposed. If so the City will be responsible for cover repairs. Any 

contaminants exposed during construction shall be the developers responsible to remedy. 

 

19. Will taxes have to be paid to the City? 

Yes, property taxes on equipment will have to be paid to the City Tax Collector.  Torrington has a 

private Tax Collector. Also, sales taxes are not exempt. 

 

Below are responses to additional questions the City’s Purchasing Agent received from 

companies regarding the RFP.  Some of the questions were asked again in the field meeting 

and were not repeated and are answered above. 

 

a.  Perspective companies can visit the site by requesting permission to enter the property by      

contacting the Engineering Department. The City will unlock the gate for entry that day.  

 

b. Is there an engineer’s estimate for the project? 

   No. 

 

c. Is there a transformer bank which services the facility? 

 No. 

 

d. The Inlands Wetland Commission mentioned in the RFP; is this a City, County or State agency?  

  It is a local City commission. 

 

e. Regarding the Alternate Proposal of connecting to the Water Pollution Control Plant, will the 

successful party be required to dismantle the electrical lines after the 15 year PPA contract 

expires? Also, will the supply lines to the Water Pollution Plant need to be buried for the sections 

that traverse the sewer plant site? 

All equipment and infrastructure installed by the developer will have to be removed at the 

end of the 15 year lease term except if there is a mutual agreement to extend the lease 

agreement and project terms. The supply wires to the Water Pollution Control Plant within 

the sewer plant property do not have to be buried.  

 

f. Is there a bid bond required for this project? 

No bid bond is required however there will be some type of financial instrument required 

for removing the equipment at the end of the lease term unless negotiated otherwise. 

 

 

 

Summary of Addendum Attachments 
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A. Usage history of the City’s five highest electricity accounts. 

 

B. Details of landfill cap sections. 

 

C. Sample of Accord insurance certificate. 

 

D. Map showing City’s “clean fill” area. 

 

E. Field meeting attendee sign-in sheet 

 

 

 

 

 



City of Torrington FIRE STATION CITY HALL POLICE STATION PUBLIC WORKS WPCA 

Rate 030 Rate 030 Rate 035 Rate 035 Rate 035

Date

Water St. 

51628082000

Main St. 

51587615097 Main St. 51866182090

ARTHUR ST. 

51940872013 

BOGUE RD. 

51462672015

KWH KWH KWH KWH KWH

Feb-07 12,240 15,120 49,600 14,800  -

Mar-07 12,960 14,640 53,120 18,000 182,160

Apr-07 13,200 14,760 49,920 16,320 127,400

May-07 12,000 14,880 46,080 12,160 183,600

Jun-07 11,760 17,400 48,960 10,320 152,640

Jul-07 28,800 20,520 51,360 10,800 160,560

Aug-07 23,280 23,760 55,040 10,800 167,760

Sep-07 21,840 21,840 52,000 10,320 168,480

Oct-07 21,600 19,800 51,360 9,120 154,800

Nov-07 15,120 16,560 46,720 8,400 141,120

Dec-07 12,960 16,920 48,960 10,400 18,360

Jan-08 13,680 19,920 57,440 16,160 154,800

Feb-08 29,520 17,400 52,160 13,440 210,960

Mar-08 14,400 17,400 55,200 16,000 172,800

Apr-08 12,720 16,200 48,000 12,160 157,680

May-08 12,480 17,520 48,640 10,720 180,720

Jun-08 12,480 18,480 51,200 10,000 140,400

Jul-08 24,720 22,800 50,720 11,280 181,440

Aug-08 24,480 27,720 54,720 13,120 159,840

Sep-08 21,840 24,240 49,280 12,320 189,360

Oct-08 22,080 21,840 50,400 11,440 156,240

Nov-08 13,920 18,240 45,760 9,840 206,640

Dec-08 14,400 19,080 52,160 11,600 203,760

Jan-09 14,640 20,040 54,880 14,480 190,800

Feb-09 13,680 18,480 54,720 15,120 172,080

Mar-09 12,000 16,920 49,600 13,120 182,880

Apr-09 12,480 8,040 47,520 10,960 167,040

May-09 13,920 3,840 46,400 9,680 187,920

Jun-09 19,200 11,040 47,680 9,040 161,280

Jul-09 20,640 47,520 9,840 180,000

Aug-09 24,240 55,200 13,440 170,640

Sep-09 22,800 50,560 15,520 177,840

Oct-09 18,720 45,920 10,560 170,640

Nov-09 13,200 44,480 9,760 151,200

Dec-09 15,840 47,680 10,880 174,240

Jan-10 17,040 49,600 15,200 194,400

Feb-10 13,680 42,560 13,280 240,480

Mar-10 14,640 47,360 14,160 183,600

Electricity Usage History - City's Five Highest Metered Accounts
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City of Torrington FIRE STATION CITY HALL POLICE STATION PUBLIC WORKS WPCA 

Rate 030 Rate 030 Rate 035 Rate 035 Rate 035

Date

Water St. 

51628082000

Main St. 

51587615097 Main St. 51866182090

ARTHUR ST. 

51940872013 

BOGUE RD. 

51462672015

KWH KWH KWH KWH KWH

Apr-10 13,680 43,360 12,320 168,480

May-10 20,640 47,520 9,680 185,760

Jun-10 24,240 47,360 10,480 156,240

Jul-10 25,440 47,680 49,120 11,280 180,000

Aug-10 29,520 65,760 59,520 13,360 167,040

Sep-10 26,400 58,880 53,920 11,520 172,080

Oct-10 20,160 45,920 48,000 10,320 160,560

Nov-10 15,360 30,880 44,800 8,640 169,920

Dec-10 17,520 32,960 50,880 9,920 179,280

Jan-11 18,960 40,320 56,800 14,880 200,880

Feb-11 16,080 36,960 50,720 20,400 177,120

Mar-11 16,320 36,000 50,080 18,720 46,080

Apr-11 15,360 34,400 44,000 12,000 172,800

May-11 17,760 35,840 49,600 11,280 201,600

Jun-11 22,320 33,280 48,960 8,960 159,120

Jul-11 30,960 40,960 48,000 9,440 164,880

Aug-11 42,720 46,560 60,320 11,760 159,840

Sep-11 37,200 39,200 50,240 10,000 164,160

Oct-11 36,240 38,240 48,960 8,160 184,320

Nov-11 32,160 33,280 45,280 7,840 162,720

Dec-11 32,400 34,560 46,080 9,200 149,760

Jan-12 33,840 38,404 52,320 12,560 197,280

Feb-12 29,520 36,000 48,320 13,920 171,360
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Torrington Landfill Property Drawn By: Engineering Dept. Date: 2/23/2012
Path: D:\GIS_Projects\Public_Works\Landfill_Drawings_2011\Addendum 1 Clean Fill Area 2_23_2012.mxd
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PDF version saved to Cityworks\Torrington GIS\Landfill Drawings 2011\
Addendum 1 Clean Fill Area 2_23_2012.PDF

Vista Dr.    Torrington, CT

Notes:
1,  Landfill survey distance and bearing information shown
on map was taken from a survey titled:
 City of Torrington Landfill, Dump Road by City of Torrington 
Engineering Division;  November, 1992; Scale 1"= 80' --
on file in the City of Torrington Engineering Dept. records as
property map 1633A.
2.  Landfill survey referenced to orthophotography using 
coordinates from two adjacent plans titled:
-- Connecticut Resource Recovery Agency Torrington Transfer
Station Site Plan,  by HDR Techserv, Inc.  1986
--Torrington Land Associates, Inc.  Leaf Composting and Transfer
Station Survey Plan by Anchor Engineering Services, Inc.  1/27/95
scale 1" = 40'
3.  Aerial photo date April 2006 
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Addendum 1:  Clean Fill Area
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